Feasibility and Severity Issues in Assessing Risk of Intimate Partner Violence in a

Correctional Population

Victoria Rivis

This thesis is submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Honours

degree of Bachelor of Psychological Science

School of Psychology

Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences

University of Adelaide

October 2020

Word Count: 9,479

# **Table of Contents**

List of Tables	5
AbstractAbstract	6
Declaration	7
Contribution Statement	8
Acknowledgements	9
CHAPTER I	10
IntroductionIntroduction	10
1.1 Overview	10
1.2 Intimate Partner Violence (IPV)	11
1.3.1 Risk: Likelihood of Reoffending	13
1.3.2 Risk: Severity	13
1.3.2.1 Severity: Strangulation	13
1.3.2.2 Severity: Sexual Assault	14
1.3.2.3 Severity: Weapon Use	15
1.4 Cost of Severe Forms of IPV	16
1.6 Current Risk Assessment Instruments for IPV	17
1.6.1 Danger Assessment (DA)	17
1.6.2 Domestic Violence Screening Inventory (DVSI)	17
1.6.3 Spousal Assault Risk Assessment Guide (SARA)	18
1.6.4 Ontario Domestic Assault Risk Assessment (ODARA)	18
1.6.4.1 Use of the ODARA in Various Countries	19
1.6.4.2 ODARA in Correctional Settings	20

1.7 Summary	21
1.8 Current Study	22
1.8.1 Project Aims	22
CHAPTER II	23
Method	23
2.1 Study Design	23
2.2 Participants	23
2.3 Measures	24
2.4 Coding for Severity Variables	25
2.7 Descriptive and Inferential Analysis	26
CHAPTER III	27
Results	27
3.1 Preliminary Analysis	27
3.2 Research Aim One: Exploration of the Feasibility of the ODARA and it	ts Use in
South Australian Correctional Setting	29
3.2.1 Missing Data	29
3.2.2 Interrater Reliability	30
3.2.3 Internal Consistency	32
3.3 Research Aim Two: to Examine the Link Between Severe Forms of IPV	V
Offending and the ODARA	33
3.3.1 Interrater Reliability for Severity Variables	33
3.3.2 Point-Biserial and Phi Correlations	33

3.3.3 Prediction of Severity Variables	35
CHAPTER IV	38
Discussion	38
4.1 Overview	38
4.2 Current Findings	38
4.2.1 Feasibility of the ODARA	38
4.2.2 Relationship between Severity and the ODARA	41
4.3 Limitations and Implications on Policy	44
4.4 Direction for Future Research	46
4.5 Conclusion	47
References	48
Appendix A	60

# **List of Tables**

Table 1. Descriptive Statistics of ODARA and Severity Variables	. 28
Table 2. Frequency of ODARA Items in Original and Retest Scoring	. 29
Table 3. Frequency of Missing Data in Original and Retest Scoring	.30
Table 4. Interrater Reliability of Original ODARA Scores with Retest Scores	.31
Table 5. Item-Total Correlations with the ODARA Items	.32
Table 6. Interrater Reliability Between Supervisor and Researcher on Severity Variables	.33
Table 7. Phi Correlations ( $\Phi$ ) Between Severity Variables and ODARA Items	. 34
Table 8. Phi $Correlations(\Phi)$ Between Severity Variables	.35
Table 9. Logistic Regression Analysis for Predictors of Weapon Use	.37

Running Head: FEASIBILITY AND SEVERITY ISSUES IN ASSESSING RISK

6

#### **Abstract**

Domestic violence or intimate partner violence (IPV) is well known to be a significant issue that impacts the psychological, physical, economic and social wellbeing of survivors. The Ontario Domestic Assault Risk Assessment (ODARA) is a risk assessment tool designed to assess the likelihood of reoffending in men who assault their female partners. The ODARA was validated in Canada as an assessment to be used by frontline police, and therefore has had minimal investigation in Australia or in correctional settings. Further, the tool has had minimal analysis of its relationship with the severity aspect of risk assessment. The present study includes 291 South Australian IPV offenders who had an ODARA completed for them. This study uses retrospective data in order to analyse the feasibility of using the ODARA in a South Australian correctional setting, as well as its ability to account for severity. The results cast doubt on the feasibility of using the ODARA within the South Australian correctional setting as there were significant patterns of missing data and poor internal consistency. A series of regression analyses also confirmed that the severity indicators were poorly accounted for by the ODARA. Improved practices in collecting and storing data within DCS may improve the feasibility of the tool. Further research could look into the inclusion of items that are significantly related to severity in order to improve the ODARA's ability to assess for severe indicators of IPV.

Keywords: intimate partner violence, feasibility, severity, risk assessment

Running Head: FEASIBILITY AND SEVERITY ISSUES IN ASSESSING RISK

**Declaration** 

This thesis contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other

7

degree or diploma in any University, and, to the best of my knowledge, this thesis contains no

material previously published except where due reference is made. I give permission for the

digital version of this thesis to be made available on the web, via the University of Adelaide's

digital thesis repository, the Library Search and through web search engines, unless

permission has been granted by the School to restrict access for a period of time.

Signature:

28 October 2020

# **Contribution Statement**

In writing this thesis, my primary and secondary supervisor and I collaborated to generate research questions of interest and design the appropriate methodology. Alongside my secondary supervisor, I was responsible for creating the dataset based on the archival data. I conducted the literature search and completed the ethics application. With support from my supervisors, I was also responsible for data analysis and thesis write-up.

# Acknowledgements

First and foremost I would like to thank my primary supervisor, Michael Proeve.

Without your valuable insight, considered feedback and guidance this thesis would not be what it is. I feel very grateful to have learnt from such a great supervisor. To my secondary supervisor Gene Mercer – thank you for always being an email or phone call away. Your experience and wisdom within this field was instrumental in shaping this thesis. I would not have been able write this without your insightful suggestions and constant support. I feel very privileged to have worked alongside the both of you.

I would also like to deeply thank my friends and family for their support. Particularly to my mum – thank you for always checking up on me, showing interest in my research, and for providing me with your delicious homemade food that fuelled me to keep writing.

Finally, thank you to my heavenly Father, who has been with me the entire process and has helped me to overcome every obstacle that this year has presented.

#### **CHAPTER I**

#### Introduction

#### 1.1 Overview

Intimate partner violence (IPV) has significant physical, psychological, social and economic implications that affect not only the survivors, but also families and society as a whole (Cortis & Bullen, 2016; García-Moreno et al., 2013; Wong & Bouchard, 2020). IPV is problematic as its aggression against an individual is contrary to prevailing society's standards on violence. It is also harmful because of the adverse physical and mental health outcomes it produces (Nicholls, Pritchard, Reeves & Hilterman, 2013; Stockman, Hayashi & Campbell, 2015). Further, the rate of reoffending among IPV perpetrators is much higher than for other violent crimes (Nicholls et al., 2013), with recidivism rates found to vary between 13% and 60% in some studies (Klein & Tobin, 2008; Loinaz, 2014; Petersson & Strand, 2017). The Risk-Need-Responsivity model (RNR) is a widely used approach in the offender rehabilitation context (Bonta & Andrews, 2007). According to this model, reoffending can be reduced if the level of service provided to the offender matches their risk of reoffending. Reducing the risk of reoffending is a key objective for correctional services. Specifically, this objective is included in the South Australian Department for Correctional Services' (DCS) 2018-2022 strategic plan (Department for Correctional Services, 2018). In order to meet this important objective and effectively respond to IPV, appropriate risk assessments must be used.

Risk assessment instruments are employed by police and correctional services to make intervention and treatment decisions in order to prevent further IPV (Bonta & Andrews, 2007; Nicholls et al., 2013). Among the available risk assessment tools that assess IPV, the Ontario Domestic Assault Risk Assessment (ODARA) has become a popular validated actuarial risk assessment (Kropp, 2008). The ODARA evaluates the likelihood that a man,

who has committed an IPV offence against his female partner, will reoffend (Hilton et al., 2004). However, there has been minimal examination of the ODARA in terms of the instrument's relationship with the severity of offending, as well as limited investigation of the tool in the Australian correctional setting. Therefore, this study endeavours to address these gaps by exploring the feasibility of the ODARA in an Australian correctional population and to explore the ability of the tool to account for severity of IPV offending. The following chapter explores the IPV and risk assessment literature, particularly in terms of the ODARA and its properties. Severity as a key component of risk is then discussed by examining three types of severe IPV; strangulation, weapon use and sexual assault. Finally, previous research concerning the ODARA will be reviewed, including its use in correctional settings.

# 1.2 Intimate Partner Violence (IPV)

Domestic violence (DV), also known as intimate partner violence (IPV) has been identified as a global health issue of universal consequence that demands immediate attention and action (García-Moreno et al., 2013). According to a publication by the World Health Organization (WHO), IPV is defined as 'any behaviour within an intimate relationship that causes physical, psychological or sexual harm to those in the relationship' (Krug, Dahlberg, Mercy, Zwi & Lozano, 2002. p. 89). Whilst this definition does not discriminate gender, the majority of research indicates that women are more likely than men to experience IPV, and are more likely to have severe injuries as a result (Anderson, 2005; Dobash & Dobash, 2004; Johnson, 2006; Ubillos-Landa, Puente-Martinez, Gonzalez-Castro and Nieto-Gonzalez, 2020; Whitaker, 2013).

The National Violence Against Women Survey (NVAWS) conducted in the USA indicated that approximately 22% of surveyed women reported physical IPV over their lifetime, in comparison to just over 7% of men (Tjaden & Thoennes, 2000). Australian statistics support this gender difference, indicating that 17% of women have been subject to

IPV since the age of 15, in comparison to 6% of men (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2016). This suggests that women are almost three times more likely to experience IPV. It is estimated that 20-30% of women still experience IPV, a rate which is alarmingly high (Lutwak, 2018; Rose, 2015; Wong & Bouchard, 2020). Because women are more likely to experience IPV, this study's discussion will focus on IPV towards women.

IPV is severely damaging and dangerous to the physical, sexual and psychological makeup of women both in the immediate and long-term (García-Moreno et al., 2013; Svalin & Levander, 2019). The most significant consequence of IPV is domestic homicide. IPV was found to occur in 41% of the 487 homicide incidents in Australia in 2012-2014 (Bryant & Bricknell, 2017). Short-term consequences of IPV also include fractures, low-weight child-births, genital trauma and burns (García-Moreno et al., 2013; Wong & Mellor, 2014). However, the impact of the abuse can cause long-term trauma even after the violence has ended (Lutwak, 2018). The long-term effects can include post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), chronic pain, brain trauma, memory loss, mental health issues and even suicidality (Gracía-Moreno et al., 2013; Lutwak, 2018; Wong & Mellor, 2014).

# 1.3 Risk of IPV

Risk is defined as a 'situation involving exposure to danger' (Oxford Dictionary of English, 2011) and includes two key concepts of probability and effect (Breakwell, 2014). Practically, risk in IPV is the probability or likelihood of an IPV offence recurring, as well as the extent of harm, or severity of that violence (Kropp, 2008; National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health, 2015). Clearly, IPV poses a significant risk of harm as it is both physically and psychologically harmful to women. Being able to identify this risk is important in order to prevent or minimise the harm caused to women impacted by IPV. Therefore, a deeper understanding of risk, including the likelihood of recidivism and severity of the offence is warranted.

# 1.3.1 Risk: Likelihood of Reoffending

An Australian study conducted by Millsteed and Coghlan (2016) found that 51% of IPV offenders were involved in another recorded IPV offence within four years of their initial offence. Research on short-term reoffending also indicated that 23% of IPV offenders reoffended within 6 months (Morgan, Boxall & Brown, 2018). This concurs with research in the USA which found that 40% of IPV offenders were arrested for new charges of domestic violence within 6 months to 2 years following probation (Klein & Crowe, 2008). The high level of recidivism globally highlights the need to effectively identify and assess those who are at risk for reoffending (Petersson & Strand, 2017).

# 1.3.2 Risk: Severity

The seriousness, or severity of the offence is also an important part of defining risk in IPV (Breakwell, 2014; Kropp, 2008; National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health, 2015; Nicholls et al., 2013). Severity includes acts of IPV that have serious implications for survivors, including severe injury or even death (Weisz, Tolman & Saunders, 2000). Severe forms of violence include forced sex, choking or strangulation and using a weapon. These dangerous forms of violence have more recently become of interest in both the justice and mental health sphere (Weisz et al., 2000).

# 1.3.2.1 Severity: Strangulation

Strangulation is defined as the 'external compression of a person's neck and/or upper torso in a manner that inhibits that person's airway or the flow of blood into or out of the head' (Pritchard, Reckdenwald & Nordham, 2017, p. 410). Strangulation is common in IPV, with one particular study suggesting that 68% of women from women shelters in the USA had a history of being strangled by their partner (Wilbur et al., 2001). Similarly, Dobash and Dobash (2004) conducted a study with 95 hetero-sexual couples selected from a larger study

on IPV and intervention, where over 66% of the women reported experiencing 'choking' by their partner.

Strangulation is often fatal and a common form of homicide (Messing, Thomas, Ward-Lasher & Brewer, 2018). However, non-fatal strangulation also has important implications for IPV survivors (Baker & Sommers, 2008; Pritchard, Reckdenwald & Nordham, 2017). During the act of strangulation, the individual is at the mercy of the assaulter, intensely struggling for air and unable to breathe (Joshi, Thomas & Sorenson, 2012). The sheer brutality and control displayed in strangulation makes this form of violence severe not only in its consequences, but also during the act itself (Joshi et al., 2012; Thomas, Joshi & Sorenson, 2014). Strangulation can cause a multitude of complications such as loss of consciousness, dizziness, difficulty breathing and difficulty swallowing (dysphagia) (Wilbur et al., 2001; Zilkens et al., 2016). Whilst strangulation can often be lethal, consequences of non-fatal strangulation include long-term physical and psychological issues (Messing et al., 2018). These can include neurological problems, insomnia and memory difficulties (Messing et al., 2018; Wilbur et al., 2001). Strangulation is therefore important to consider as a specific form of IPV.

# 1.3.2.2 Severity: Sexual Assault

Sexual assault, particularly within a domestic relationship is often underreported (Jung, Faitakis & Cheema, 2020; Lehner, 2017; Wolitzky-Taylor et al., 2011). Australian statistics indicate that women are eight times more likely to be sexually assaulted by their partner than men (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2016). Sexual assault is defined as 'illegal sexual contact that usually involves force upon a person without consent' (Merriam-Webster, 2020), and has become more commonly recognised in this context as intimate partner sexual violence (IPSV; Bagwell-Gray, Messing & Baldwin-White, 2015). Research indicates that IPSV is common, with the prevalence of IPSV among IPV survivors from across 11 unique

studies being over 36% (Bagwell-Gray et al., 2015). Another study with IPV survivors who were seeking a protection order found that 68% of the sample had been sexually assaulted at least once during their relationship (McFarlane et al., 2005).

IPSV is important as it poses a significant threat to women in terms of both psychological and physical injuries obtained. Women who are sexually assaulted experience gynaecological problems that are often long lasting. These issues include sexually transmitted diseases, vaginal bleeding and infections, chronic pelvic pain, and urinary-tract infections (Campbell, 2002; McFarlane et al., 2005; Sachs-Ericsson, 2014). Such gynaecological problems are the greatest distinction between physical and sexual violence, and this highlights the importance for including it as a type of severe IPV. In addition, psychological trauma such as PTSD, depression, fear and anxiety are also significant consequences of sexual assault (Campbell, Dworkin & Cabral, 2009; McFarlane et al., 2005).

# 1.3.2.3 Severity: Weapon Use

IPV frequently involves the use of weapons, and this type of violence has been identified as severe (Folkes, Hilton & Harris, 2012). A large number of studies have indicated weapon use to be a common form of violence committed in IPV (Abramsky et al., 2011; Connors, Mills & Gray, 2013; Echeburúa, Fernández-Montalvo, de Corral & López-Goñi, 2009; García-Moreno et al., 2013; Messing & Thaller, 2015; Millsteed & Coghlan, 2016). Research with residents living in Californian women's shelters revealed that almost 57% of respondents had a household object used against them, and 32% reported use of a handgun (Sorenson & Wiebe, 2004). Using weapons such as knives, guns or household items (i.e. pot/pans, electrical cords, scissors) increases the ability to inflict harm on the individual that is potentially lethal (Folkes et al., 2012; Sorenson & Wiebe, 2004), therefore making this a severe type of IPV.

# 1.4 Cost of Severe Forms of IPV

Aside from these three severe forms of IPV, there are many other types of assault that not only occur regularly, but have long-lasting implications on survivors. This includes, but is not limited to; financial abuse, coercive control, and stalking (Cleak, Schofield, Axelsen & Bickerdike, 2018; García-Moreno et al., 2013; Hall, Walters & Basile, 2012). However, from a systematic perspective, the economic implications related to severe forms of violence such as strangulation, weapon use and sexual assault are much greater in general than other types of violence survivors experience.

Strangulation and weapon use are frequently related to lethality, as they pose a significant harm to the victim which can lead to death (Folkes et al., 2012; Messing, Patch, Wilson, Kelen & Campbell, 2018; Spencer & Stith, 2020). The economic impact of homicide is astounding, with the Australian Institute of Criminology (AIC) estimating the cost to be over \$3 million per incident (price inflated to 2020; Smith, Jorna, Sweeney & Fuller, 2014). \$3 million multiplied by the number of IPV homicide cases reported in Australia in 2012-2014 is equal to \$378 million of medical, loss of output and intangible costs as a result of homicide (Bryant & Bricknell, 2017). Sexual assault is also considered severe because of its significant physical and psychological impact on survivors (Campbell et al., 2009; McFarlane et al., 2005). In addition to these individual implications, such severe forms of IPV carry significant economic burdens. Medical costs for sexual assaults were just over \$62 million dollars for the estimated number of Australian sexual assault cases with sustained injuries in 2011 (price inflated to 2020; Smith et al., 2014).

These figures highlight the awful individual and economic consequences associated with IPV, specifically regarding strangulation, sexual assault and weapon use. As a result, mental health and correctional practitioners have a professional responsibility to assess the risk of reoffending, as well as the risk of severe violence (Nicholls et al., 2013).

# 1.6 Current Risk Assessment Instruments for IPV

The need to screen for the risk of IPV reoffending has brought about a variety of risk assessment instruments. According to Kropp (2008), there are four assessment tools that seem to be the most promising: Danger Assessment, Domestic Violence Screening Inventory, Spousal Assault Risk Assessment Guide and the Ontario Domestic Assault Risk Assessment.

# 1.6.1 Danger Assessment (DA)

The Danger Assessment (DA) was developed to assess the likelihood of spousal homicide (2007). The DA consists of two key parts. The first part is a calendar where survivors are asked to record both the severity and frequency of violence throughout the past year. This is recorded on a scale of 1-5 with 1 being no injuries or lasting pain e.g. a slap and 5 being wounds from a weapon (Campbell, 2007). The second part of the DA is a 15-item yes or no list of risk factors that are related to IPV. The DA was found to be associated with severity and frequency of IPV (Kropp, 2008). However, the DA requires the self-report of the survivor as well as enough time for survivors to recount previous experiences of assault. This makes the DA a lengthy assessment which requires not only an assessor, but also the survivor to be a part of the assessment.

# 1.6.2 Domestic Violence Screening Inventory (DVSI)

The Domestic Violence Screening Inventory (DVSI) is a risk assessment tool that was developed in Colorado and validated on a sample of 1,465 male IPV offenders (Williams & Houghton, 2004). The DVSI contains 12 items which address both behavioural and social factors deemed to be significantly correlated with IPV recidivism (Kropp, 2008; Williams & Houghton, 2004). The behavioural factors include the offender's history of both IPV and non-IPV offending, while the social factors include presence of children and relationship status. The DVSI has been noted for its validity in predicting recidivism (Williams & Houghton, 2004). However, as the items on this assessment are scored on a 3 or 4 point

Likert scale, it increases the subjectivity of the scale and therefore may impact the validity of the tool (Mercer & Ziersch, 2017).

# 1.6.3 Spousal Assault Risk Assessment Guide (SARA)

The Spousal Assault Risk Assessment Guide (SARA) is a structured professional judgement tool that has been designed as a set of guidelines to assess IPV recidivism (Helmus & Bourgon, 2011; Kropp, 2008; Kropp & Hart, 2000). The SARA includes 20 risk factors based on empirical literature that explore general violence and spousal violence. This tool is indicated by the authors as being a guideline rather than a formal psychological test (Kropp & Hart, 2000) and therefore has a greater reliance on professional experience in order to administer.

# 1.6.4 Ontario Domestic Assault Risk Assessment (ODARA)

The Ontario Domestic Assault Risk Assessment (ODARA) is an actuarial risk assessment tool, designed to assess the likelihood that an IPV offender will reoffend (Hilton et al., 2004). An actuarial approach is designed to predict future violence and is based on statistics rather than solely using professional's opinions and experience (Kropp, 2008). This approach is useful as it avoids subjective biases of professionals. The ODARA's construction sample consisted of 589 male offenders with an average age of 38 (Hilton et al., 2004). There are 13 items that were selected based on being the best-performing predictors of recidivism (Hilton et al., 2004). These items range from questions about previous violence (e.g. has a prior domestic assault), to specific questions about the assault (e.g. unlawful confinement of victim during index offence; Hilton et al., 2004).

This tool was originally designed for frontline police officers attending domestic dispute calls, so that it is simple to administer and does not require specific professional qualifications. The questions are scored on the basis of an 'index offence', which is the most recent occurrence where the offender assaulted his female partner (Hilton, Harris & Rice,

2010). In the original validation study, recidivism over a 5-year period ranged from 7% for those who scored 0, through to 74% for those who scored in the 7-13 range (Hilton et al., 2010).

In comparison to the other three risk assessments, the ODARA was found to have the highest average weighted 'Area Under the Curve' (AUC) and effect size (AUC = .67, d = .608; Messing & Thaller, 2013). The AUC is used to indicate the accuracy of a particular test to correctly predict future events (Kebbell, 2019). According to Rice and Harris (2005) an AUC of .56 is considered to have small predictive validity, .64 is considered moderate and .71 is considered large. Therefore, the ODARA has moderate predictive validity (AUC = .67).

The ODARA, whilst primarily assessing the likelihood of reoffending, has also been examined against measures of severity. These measures were: the total of victim injury scores, the Cormier-Lang Scale which assesses criminal history, and the sum of subsequent offences that were considered acts of severe violence. These were positively correlated with the ODARA score with an average Pearson's r of .36 (Hilton et al., 2004). However, these severity indicators did not consider specific forms of severe violence such as strangulation, weapon use and sexual assault. This warrants further research as to whether indication of severity, particularly as it relates to strangulation, weapon use and sexual assault, is encompassed within the ODARA.

# 1.6.4.1 Use of the ODARA in Various Countries

The ODARA was validated in Ontario, Canada, and has also been used in Switzerland, Austria, Germany, New Zealand and Australia (Gerth, Rossegger, Urbaniok & Endrass, 2014; Lauria, McEwan, Luebbers, Simmons & Ogloff, 2017; Rettenberger & Eher, 2013). In an Australian frontline police study, the ODARA was able to predict recidivism with an AUC of .68 (Lauria et al., 2017). This moderate predictive accuracy is consistent

with the developmental sample, and therefore a possible indication that this tool can be applied to international settings. However, Lauria et al. (2017) also found that items 2 and 10 which relate to the offender's history of violence towards others, accounted for the majority of the ODARA's recidivism prediction, with the other items not being as useful in the performance of the tool. However, this is one of the only significant studies conducted on the ODARA in an Australian setting. Given that the ODARA has had limited use in Australia, it is important to conduct further research in this context.

# 1.6.4.2 ODARA in Correctional Settings

Most research using the ODARA concerns its use by frontline police. There has been limited research concerning its application in correctional settings (Day, Richardson, Bowen & Bernardi, 2014). One study included 150 incarcerated men that were referred to an IPV program. The authors concluded that some of the items in the ODARA were so frequent in the sample that they contributed little towards the ODARA's aim of prediction of recidivism (Hilton, Harris, Popham & Lang, 2010). Overall, the ODARA was able to predict IPV recidivism with an AUC of .64 within this correctional population (Hilton et al., 2010). An Austrian study on an incarcerated sample of men who had committed at least one sexually motivated offence against their partner had similar results (AUC = .71; N=66; Rettenberger & Eher, 2013). These results are insightful as they show that the ODARA has had moderate predictive validity in correctional settings.

A recent study looked at the ODARA in a sample of 258 males charged with a violent offence against a female intimate partner who were referred for threat assessment. This study simply analysed the reliability of the ODARA and found the tool to have good inter-rater reliability (Hilton, Pham, Jung, Nunes & Ennis, 2020). However, aside from the studies reported above, there has been minimal research to further support or dispute the ODARA's ability to predict recidivism in a correctional setting.

Correctional services hold the responsibility of management, rehabilitation and program creation for all offenders, particularly IPV perpetrators (Day, Richardson, Bowen & Bernardi, 2014). Determining the level of risk an IPV offender has by utilising risk assessment tools is important in being able to effectively manage offenders. Applying risk assessment tools in this way will aid in the appropriate placement of offenders in interventions, in order to ultimately support the decrease of reoffending. Therefore, further research is required to examine the way in which the ODARA functions in a correctional setting, specifically within Australia.

# 1.7 Summary

The impact of IPV on survivors and society, and the need to assess the risk of IPV has been well researched. As a result, several risk assessments were created, with varying levels of validity and application. In particular, the ODARA has become a popular risk assessment that has been used around the world in frontline police settings, including Switzerland, Canada and Australia (Gerth et al., 2014; Hilton et al., 2004; Lauria et al., 2017). However, minimal research has been conducted into the suitability, or feasibility of the ODARA in a correctional setting, particularly in an Australian population. Conceptually, feasibility examines whether a risk assessment or intervention can be adapted into a particular setting. The main objective when assessing feasibility is to answer the question: can it work? by evaluating the processes of the particular tool (Orsmond & Cohn, 2015). In order to further understand how the ODARA performs within the correctional setting, an assessment of feasibility is necessary.

In addition, there has been a shortage of research regarding a key component of risk – severity, and how it is accounted for in this particular risk assessment. Whilst some risk assessments (i.e. DA) emphasise the potential severity of reoffending, the likelihood of reoffending is the main focus of most IPV risk assessments. For example, the goal of the

SARA is to predict recidivism, and out of the 20 items, only one item specifically explores the severity of the assault (Kropp & Hart, 2000). This lack of emphasis on severity reveals a gap which needs to be explored. To date there is limited understanding of how the ODARA performs in Australian correctional settings, and whether it also accounts for types of IPV severity.

# 1.8 Current Study

This thesis is part of a research agenda that aims to validate the ODARA in the South Australian (SA) correctional setting. The current study aims to first investigate the feasibility of using the ODARA in the SA correctional setting. The study also seeks to analyse whether the ODARA accounts for particular types of severity. Increasing the knowledge in this under researched area will support the possible validation of the ODARA in SA. This will in turn contribute to improved intervention, treatment and management of IPV offenders, which can support the reduction of IPV in SA.

# 1.8.1 Project Aims

The aims of this study are:

- To explore the feasibility of the ODARA's performance in the South Australian correctional setting by analysing the missing data, interrater reliability and internal consistency of the tool.
- 2. To examine the relationship between ODARA scores, ODARA items, and severity indicators of strangulation, weapon use and sexual assault.

#### **CHAPTER II**

#### Method

# 2.1 Study Design

In order to achieve the study aims outlined in chapter 1, a cross-sectional study design was used. This study was approved by the Human Research Ethics Sub-Committee of the School of Psychology at the University of Adelaide (Approval No. 20/23). Participant data were collected from archival data in the Justice Information System (JIS) used by enforcement and correctional officers in South Australia.

# 2.2 Participants

The study was conducted using data collected by the Department for Correctional Services (DCS) in Adelaide, South Australia. Participants included in this study were male offenders from South Australia aged 18 and over. The participants had at least one police apprehension report detailing an IPV offence, which was either physical assault against an intimate partner or credible threat of harm or death with a weapon in hand. The vast majority of participants included in the data-set were offenders currently or previously imprisoned, who commenced a Domestic and Family Violence Intervention Program (DFVIP) as a result of their ODARA score. Under department guidelines, male offenders with a current or prior charge of IPV against a female intimate partner were assessed with the ODARA. The participants were assessed by close to 50 different clinicians. All men with an IPV index offence from an apprehension report and subsequent completed ODARA from 2000 to 2019 were included.

The research team continued data collection until the 3<sup>rd</sup> of April 2020, where the researcher was no longer able to attend the correctional office and access offender records due to COVID-19. An initial data-set of 417 participants was available. However, the

ODARA assessment forms were not able to be located for 109 participants. The maximum number of missing items for a valid score is 5 (Hilton et al., 2010), therefore a further 17 participants were removed for having 5 or more missing items. In total there were 291 participants included in this study.

The mean age of participants included in this study was 31.87, and 21.4% of participants identified as Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander (ATSI). Further, 85% of participants had recorded at least one previous IPV offence. A post hoc power analysis confirmed that there were sufficient participants to conduct the analyses required. The results showed that we achieved power of .93 with a medium effect size ( $\chi^2 = .3$ ) and alpha (p < .05) with a sample size of 291. Full results from this analysis can be seen in Appendix A.

#### 2.3 Measures

#### **Demographic Measures**

Participants' demographic information was collected from JIS and included information on age, ATSI identification and relationship status. Relationship status was determined by indication on the apprehension report as to whether or not the offender and survivor were still together. If the survivor or offender made comments such as 'we broke up last month' or 'I moved out, I told him I don't want to be with him anymore', relationship status was reported as 'separated'. If there was no indication of separation, relationship status was reported as 'together'.

# Ontario Domestic Assault Risk Assessment (ODARA)

The ODARA is an actuarial risk assessment tool developed by the Ontario Provincial Police (OPP) to assess the risk of domestic violence recidivism (Hilton et al., 2004; Olver and Jung, 2017). The tool is made up of 13 items which assess: (1) prior domestic violent incident of assault in police records; (2) prior non-domestic violent incident in police records; (3) prior custodial sentence of 30 days or more; (4) failure on prior conditional release; (5) threat

to harm or kill at the index assault; (6) confinement of partner at index offence; (7) victim concern about future assault; (8) more than one child between victim and offender; (9) victim's biological child from previous partner; (10) violence against others; (11) substance abuse; (12) assault on victim while pregnant and (13) barriers to victim support.

The assessor scores each variable as either present (1), not present (0), or missing (?). Possible scores range from 0-13. The raw score of 0-13 is prorated according to how many missing items were included, and then converted into 1 of 7 probability categories that range from 7-74% probability of re-offending within 5 years post index assault (Hilton et al., 2010). In order to measure the inter-rater reliability of the ODARA scores, the researcher rescored a random subsample of 89 participants. The researcher retested this subsample after being trained under the supervision of employees at DCS and receiving a certificate of completion for the ODARA training.

# 2.4 Coding for Severity Variables

Each of the 219 participants were scored against the severity variables of strangulation, weapon use and sexual assault, being indicated as present or absent by the researcher. The severity variables were coded on the basis of multiple discussions between the researcher and DCS supervisor, who has a bachelor in Behavioural Science and has been working for DCS overseeing the development and evaluation of criminogenic rehabilitation programs for over 6 years. Coding the severity variables was also based on widely accepted definitions of the variables that are explained below. In order to measure inter-rater reliability of the severity variables, the DCS supervisor rescored a random subsample of 50 participants.

# Strangulation

Strangulation was defined as the 'external compression of a person's neck and/or upper torso in a manner that inhibits that person's airway or the flow of blood into or out of the head' (Pritchard et al., 2017, p. 410). This item was coded by including all written

indications of the offender using any means to restrict the victim's breathing. For example, if the survivor recounts feeling shortness of breath due to physical restraint inflicted on her from the offender, that was included and scored as present (1). Any case where there was no written indication of strangulation was scored as not present (0).

# Weapon Use

Weapon use was defined as any instance where the offender used an object other than his hands or feet to cause, or attempted to cause, bodily harm towards the survivor, or used the weapon to make a credible threat of death. Any case where the offender used an object, the item was scored present (1), and any instance where he only used his hands or feet, weapon use was scored as absent (0).

# Sexual Assault

Sexual assault was defined as sexual behaviours and acts inflicted on the survivor, where they have not given consent. In order for sexual assault to be coded as present (1), the researcher had to have a clear written indication of a sexual act occurring, and indication of the victim either implicitly or explicitly not agreeing to it. For example, instances where the victim said 'he told me to perform a sexual act on him so I did it so he would stop bashing me', this was included as sexual assault. Any case where there was no written indication of a sexual act occurring, or where there was no clear implicit or explicit lack of consent, was scored as not present (0).

# 2.7 Descriptive and Inferential Analysis

The data were analysed using IBM SPSS Statistics Version 26. In order to address the first aim of exploring the feasibility of the ODARA in the South Australian correctional setting, descriptive statistics were calculated. The ODARA items require information about individuals that may not have been recorded on justice systems. As a result, sometimes the answers were left as 'missing'. These 'missing' answers were analysed to determine the

frequency of missing information. The missing information was also assessed to explore whether it was missing at random or whether there were patterns of data missing from particular items. Internal consistency was calculated by analysing Cronbach's alpha as well as item-total correlations. Internater reliability was used to calculate the percentage of agreement between the clinicians and the researcher's overall ODARA score, as well as the scoring on each individual ODARA item.

To address the second research aim, the severity variables were analysed alongside the ODARA in various tests. A test of interrater reliability was run to determine the percentage of agreement between the researcher and the supervisor on the severity variables. Point-biserial and Phi correlations were calculated to look at the relationship between the total ODARA score, as well as each individual ODARA item, against the severity variables. Phi correlations were also used in order to examine the relationship between the severity variables themselves. Finally, three separate analyses of logistic regression were run to examine the combined effects of the severity variables against the ODARA items.

#### **CHAPTER III**

#### **Results**

# 3.1 Preliminary Analysis

Data screening of the raw total ODARA score variable was performed prior to analyses to test for normality of data and homogeneity of variance. A Kolmogorov-Smirnov (K-S) goodness-of-fit test was used to test for normality of this variable. Using the K-S alongside visual inspection of graphical data is recommended as large sample sizes can often generate significant results even when there is minimal deviation from normality (Field, 2009). This study yielded a significant result for the K-S, however upon inspection of Q-Q

plots, histograms and box plots, the data appeared not to deviate from normality. This was confirmed by assessing the skewness and kurtosis, both of which clustered around 0 and therefore also indicated normality (Field, 2009).

The sample characteristics of this study are presented in Table 1. As mentioned in chapter 2, a total of 291 participants were included in this study and their average age was 31.87 (SD= 8.28). Table 1 shows that the mean ODARA score for the total sample was M = 7.49 (SD= 1.87). This is quite high in comparison with the development sample's ODARA score (M= 2.89, SD= 2.14; Hilton et al., 2004). Table 2 shows the frequency of ODARA items being present in both the original and retest scoring. A majority of the items were found to be present, with item 4 (failure on prior conditional release) having the highest percent present for both the original and retest scores (91.3% and 88.8% respectively).

Table 1

Descriptive Statistics of ODARA and Severity Variables

Variable	Mean (SD) or %
ODARA score	7.49 (1.87)
Weapon used (%)	30.1
Strangulation used (%)	27.3
Sexual Assault occurred (%)	9.3

*Note.* All characteristics are based on time of the index offence. N = 291

Table 2

Presence of ODARA Items in Original and Retest Scoring

ODARA items	Present in original	Present in retest
	(%)	(%)
1. Prior domestic incident	86.6	77.5
2. Prior non-domestic incident	79.2	75.3
3. Prior custodial sentence of 30+ days	70.1	85.4
4. Failure on prior conditional release	91.3	88.8
5. Threat to harm or kill at index assault	57.0	29.9
6. Confinement at index assault	19.8	8.0
7. Victim's concern about future	56.6	13.8
8. More than one child between victim and	57.2	68.6
offender		
9. Victim's biological child from previous	51.2	34.8
partner		
10. Violence against others	82.5	74.2
11. Substance abuse	87.8	48.3
12. Assault on victim when pregnant	10.5	2.4
13. Barriers to victim support	73.2	73.9

*Note.* n=291 (original scoring), n=89 (retest scoring).

# 3.2 Research Aim One: Exploration of the Feasibility of the ODARA and its Use in South Australian Correctional Setting

# 3.2.1 Missing Data

Analysis of the missing data found in the ODARA items showed interesting patterns. As can be observed in Table 3, from the ODARA tests originally scored by the DCS clinicians, items

7, 9, 12 and 13 all had more than 20% of data missing. From the ODARA tests retested by the researcher, only items 8 and 9 had more than 20% of data missing.

Table 3

Frequency of Missing Data in Original and Retest Scoring

ODAR	A items	Missing in original	Missing in retest
		(%)	(%)
1.	Prior domestic incident	2.4	0
2.	Prior non-domestic incident	1	0
3.	Prior custodial sentence of 30+ days	1	0
4.	Failure on prior conditional release	1.4	0
5.	Threat to harm or kill at index assault	11.3	2.2
6.	Confinement at index assault	10	1.1
7.	Victim's concern about future	24.7	2.2
8.	More than one child between victim and offender	9.3	21.1
9.	Victim's biological child from previous partner	28.9	47.8
10.	Violence against others	2.1	0
11.	Substance abuse	6.9	2.2
12.	Assault on victim when pregnant	27.8	7.8
13.	Barriers to victim support	29.6	1.1

*Note.* n=291 (original scoring), n=89 (retest scoring).

# 3.2.2 Interrater Reliability

A test of interrater reliability was conducted to determine if there was agreement between the researcher and the clinicians who scored the participants on the ODARA tool. The results showed good to excellent agreement between the researcher and the clinicians on their total raw ODARA score; (ICC single measure = .82, 95% CI = .74 - .89, p < .001). This

was slightly lower, however still in keeping with both the development (ICC=.90) and subsequent samples (ICC=.89) (Hilton et al., 2004; Rettenberger & Eher, 2013). Interrater reliability was also analysed to determine the agreement between the clinicians and researcher on all individual ODARA items. Table 4 shows the result of this analysis. Percentage agreement between particular items varied, with item 2 having the highest agreement (98.9%) and item 7 having the lowest percentage agreement (54%). Kappa results confirmed this and also showed that all items had significant agreement excluding item 7.

Table 4

Interrater Reliability of Original ODARA Scores with Retest Scores

A items	Kappa	Percentage
		Agreement
Prior domestic incident	.50*	85.9
Prior non-domestic incident	.97*	98.9
Prior custodial sentence of 30+ days	.55*	85.1
Failure on prior conditional release	.53*	93.0
Threat to harm or kill at index assault	.59*	77.2
Confinement at index assault	.41*	86.1
Victim's concern about future	.17	54.0
More than one child between victim and offender	.55*	79.7
Victim's biological child from previous partner	.59*	79.4
Violence against others	.83*	94.1
Substance abuse	.26*	62.5
Assault on victim when pregnant	.41*	91.5
Barriers to victim support	.30**	74.6
	Prior domestic incident  Prior non-domestic incident  Prior custodial sentence of 30+ days  Failure on prior conditional release  Threat to harm or kill at index assault  Confinement at index assault  Victim's concern about future  More than one child between victim and offender	Prior domestic incident .50*  Prior non-domestic incident .97*  Prior custodial sentence of 30+ days .55*  Failure on prior conditional release .53*  Threat to harm or kill at index assault .59*  Confinement at index assault .41*  Victim's concern about future .17  More than one child between victim and offender .55*  Victim's biological child from previous partner .59*  Violence against others .83*  Substance abuse .26*  Assault on victim when pregnant .41*

*Note.* \*p<.001, \*\*p<.05

# 3.2.3 Internal Consistency

A reliability analysis was conducted on the ODARA in order to calculate the internal consistency of the tool. Cronbach's alpha showed poor internal consistency ( $\alpha$ = .45) for the originally rated ODARA scores as well as the retested ODARA scores ( $\alpha$ = .41). Such a low alpha may suggest that the items are poorly related to each other, as a cut-off point of  $\alpha$ = .70 is commonly adopted (Field, 2009). The internal consistency was not reported for the original validation of the ODARA, but a follow up study found  $\alpha$ = .65 (Hilton, Harris & Holder, 2008). This suggests that the internal consistency of this study is quite poor in comparison, as items below .3 are considered to have poor internal consistency (Field, 2009). Table 5 shows that, whilst item-total correlations ranged from -.05 to .38, all but 2 items (item 3 and 9) have low internal consistency.

Table 5

Item-Total Correlations with the ODARA Items

ODARA items	Corrected item-total
	correlations
1. Prior domestic incident	.29
2. Prior non-domestic incident	.25
3. Prior custodial sentence of 30+ days	.30
4. Failure on prior conditional release	.27
5. Threat to harm or kill at index assault	05
6. Confinement at index assault	.04
7. Victim's concern about future	04
8. More than one child between victim and	.13
offender	
9. Victim's biological child from previous	.38
partner	

10. Violence against others	.21
11. Substance abuse	.14
12. Assault on victim when pregnant	.16
13. Barriers to victim support	.18

# 3.3 Research Aim Two: to Examine the Link Between Severe Forms of IPV Offending and the ODARA

# 3.3.1 Interrater Reliability for Severity Variables

A test of interrater reliability was also run to determine the agreement between the researcher and the supervisor on the severity variables. Table 6 shows that there was high level of agreement on strangulation, weapon use and sexual assault between the researcher and the supervisor.

Table 6

Interrater Reliability Between Supervisor and Researcher on Severity Variables

Severity Variable	Kappa	Percentage Agreement (%)	
Strangulation	.953*	98	
Weapon Use	.786*	90	
Sexual Assault	.834*	96	

*Note.* \**p*<.001

#### 3.3.2 Point-Biserial and Phi Correlations

Point-biserial correlations were used to determine the relationship between the total ODARA score and the severity variables. No significant relationships were found for any of the three variables, with an r of .062, .020 and -.025 for strangulation, weapon use and sexual assault respectively. Phi correlations were also calculated for the relationship between each severity variable and each ODARA item. Table 7 shows that a majority of the ODARA items

had no significant correlations with any of the three severity variables. However, item 6 (confinement) had a small, positive correlation with strangulation ( $\Phi$ =.266) and sexual assault ( $\Phi$ =.14), as did item 5 (threat to harm and kill) with weapon use ( $\Phi$ =.18). Item 10 (prior non IPV violence) had a small, negative correlation with sexual assault ( $\Phi$ =-.13), as did item 13 (barriers to support;  $\Phi$ = -.16). Phi correlations were then calculated between each of the three variables to see whether they were significantly related to one another. Table 8 shows that only strangulation and sexual assault has a significant, positive correlation. However, the relationship was small ( $\Phi$ =.12).

Table 7  $Phi\ Correlations\ (\Phi)\ Between\ Severity\ Variables\ and\ ODARA\ Items$ 

ODARA Items	Strangulation	Weapon Use	Sexual Assault
1. Prior domestic incident	018	.056	.054
2. Prior non-domestic incident	.003	.001	069
3. Prior custodial sentence of 30+ days	054	.055	075
4. Failure on prior conditional release	091	.039	.100
5. Threat to harm or kill at index assault	.116	.184*	009
6. Confinement at index assault	.266*	.096	.141*
7. Victim's concern about future	001	.082	.003
8. More than one child between victim	.031	035	006
and offender			
9. Victim's biological child from	.068	.077	008
previous partner			
10. Violence against others	046	020	133*
11. Substance abuse	.07	.004	.046
12. Assault on victim when pregnant	046	018	105
13. Barriers to victim support	.078	155*	070

*Note.* \**p*<.05.

Table 8

Phi  $Correlations(\Phi)$  Between Severity Variables

Severity Variable	Strangulation	Weapon Use	Sexual Assault
Strangulation	1	.09	.12*
Weapon Use	.09	1	.05
Sexual Assault	.12*	.05	1

*Note.* \**p*<.05.

# 3.3.3 Prediction of Severity Variables

As the severity variables in this study are dichotomous (i.e. strangulation present vs strangulation not present), logistic regression was an appropriate form of analysis (Field, 2009). Three logistic regressions were run to examine the combined effects of the ODARA items and the various severity variables. An initial logistic regression was run to examine the impact of the ODARA items, weapon use and sexual assault on strangulation as the dependent variable. The first model was not a significant fit of the data ( $\chi^2$  (13)=7.16, p=.89) and none of the ODARA variables were significant predictors. Including the two remaining severity variables in step two did not significantly improve the model ( $\chi^2$  (15)=9.67, p=.84). The whole model was able to explain between 10% and 16% of the variance in strangulation (Cox and Snell R Square and Nagelkerke R Square respectively).

A second logistic regression was run with weapon use as the dependent variable, as can be seen in Table 9. In step one, the ODARA items were included, and the overall model was not a significant fit of the data ( $\chi^2(13)=18.1$ , p=.15). Weapon use and sexual assault were added as predictors in the final step. This model was found to be close to significance ( $\chi^2(15)=22.68$ , p=.09), and therefore the statistically significant predictors are discussed. Weapon use was associated with a lower probability of the following predictors being

present: item 3 (prior custodial sentence; OR = .13, CI = .03-.68, p = .02), item 5 (threat to harm or kill; OR = .14, CI = .04-.56, p = .005) and sexual assault (OR = .09 CI = .01-.93 p = .04). The final model was able to explain between 22% and 33% of the variance (Cox and Snell R Square and Nagelkerke R Square respectively).

A final logistic regression was performed using sexual assault as the dependant variable. However, due to having very few cases (n=27) who endorsed sexual assault out of the 291 sample, the standard error was very large. This is in comparison to over 70 participants endorsing strangulation and sexual assault. Therefore, the output was uninterpretable and the logistic regression failed to converge on a solution.

Table 9

Logistic Regression Analysis for Predictors of Weapon Use

	Model 1			Model 2		
Variable	B (SE)	OR	95% CI	B (SE)	OR	95% CI
ODARA 1	.24 (.99)	1.27	[.18, 8.82]	.67 (1.05)	1.94	[25, 15.23]
(Prior domestic incident)						
ODARA 2	.64 (1.05)	1.896	[.24, 14.71]	1.04 (1.08)	2.82	[.34, 23.36]
(Prior non-domestic incident)						
ODARA 3	-1.71 (.78)	.18	[.04, .83]	-2.02 (.84)*	.13	[.03, .68]
(Prior custodial sentence of 30+ days)						
ODARA 4	70 (1.39)	.496	[.03, 7.50]	38 (1.44)	.68	[.04, 11.53]
(Failure on prior conditional release)						
ODARA 5	-1.83 (.66)	7.66	[.04, .59]	-1.97 (.71)*	.14	[.04, .56]
(Threat to harm or kill at index assault)						
ODARA 6	29 (.70)	.75	[.19, 2.94]	12 (.75)	.89	[.21, 3.84]
(Confinement at index assault)						
ODARA 7	.43 (.63)	1.54	[.45, 5.33]	.37 (.65)	1.45	[.40, 5.19]
(Victim's concern about future)						
ODARA 8	62 (.66)	.54	[.15, 1.96]	87 (.71)	.42	[.11, 1.68]
(More than one child between victim and						
offender)						
ODARA 9	.49 (.65)	1.63	[.45, 5.86]	.20 (.70)	1.22	[.31, 4.85]
(Victim's biological child from previous						
partner)						
ODARA 10	99 (.98)	.37	[.05, 2.54]	-1.89 (1.21)	.15	[.01, 1.62]
(Violence against others)						
ODARA 11	.38 (1.01)	1.47	[.20, 10.61]	.80 (1.12)	2.23	[.25, 19.91]
(Substance abuse)						
ODARA 12	.39 (.97)	1.48	[.22, 9.96]	.43 (.98)	1.53	[.23, 10.41]
(Assault on victim when pregnant)						
ODARA 13	1.19 (.70)	3.29	[.84, 12.87]	1.15 (.74)	3.16	[.74, 13.51]
(Barriers to victim support)						
Strangulation				.14 (.75)	1.15	[.26, 5.02]
Sexual Assault				-2.37 (1.17)*	.09	[.01, .93]

*Note.* \*p<.05. OR = Odds Ratio. CI = Confidence Interval. Variable coding: ODARA 1-13 = 0 not present, 1 present; Strangulation = 0 not present, 1 present; Sexual Assault = 0 not present, 1 present.

#### **CHAPTER IV**

#### Discussion

### 4.1 Overview

As discussed in chapter 1, much of the literature to-date has focused on the ODARA's application within the police frontline setting. Further, it has primarily focused on the frequency of reoffending, rather than the severity of offending. The present study explored the feasibility of the ODARA in a South Australian correctional setting, in addition to examining the relationship between severe forms of violence and the ODARA. Analysing the feasibility of the ODARA found that overall, the ODARA did not perform to the same standard as it originally did, as there were significant patterns of missing data, as well as poor internal consistency. Assessing the link between the severity variables and the ODARA items also found that severity was not well accounted for within this risk assessment tool. There were small correlations observed, however only with a few of the items, and the inclusion of the severity variables within a logistic regression did not significantly improve the fit of the model. The following chapter evaluates and discusses these findings, including consideration of the practical and research implications.

## 4.2 Current Findings

### 4.2.1 Feasibility of the ODARA

The first aim of this study was to explore the feasibility of the ODARA within the South Australian correctional setting. As outlined in chapter 3, the mean ODARA score found in this study (M=7.49, SD= 1.87) was significantly higher than the development sample's mean score (M=2.89, SD= 2.14; Hilton et al., 2004). One explanation for this difference in mean ODARA scores might be due to this study's participants being previously or currently incarcerated offenders. It's likely that this contributed to the 5 criminal justice indicators (items 1-4 and 10; prior domestic incident, prior non-domestic incident, prior

custodial sentence, failure on prior conditional release, violence against others) being endorsed on a majority of assessments in this study. This was consistent with literature reporting a mean ODARA score of 7.84 (SD= 2.03) for a sample of corrections-involved males with a violent offence against a female intimate partner (Hilton, Pham, Jung, Nunes & Ennis, 2020). Slightly lower, but in line with this, was a sample of Canadian incarcerated male offenders which found an average ODARA of 5.81 (SD= 2.06; Hilton et al., 2010). This illustrates the difference between incarcerated and community samples when using the ODARA, and highlights the need to consider the feasibility of using this tool within the South Australian correctional setting. The high level of endorsement of items is also a potential cause for consideration. For example, in the current study item 4 (failure on prior conditional release) was endorsed on over 91% of ODARAs, relative to only 15% in the original validation study (Hilton et al., 2004). Previous research has also highlighted similar levels of endorsement in a correctional sample which resulted in minimal contribution to the prediction of recidivism (Hilton et al., 2010). This only further reflects the difference in samples and emphasises the necessity of considering feasibility when using particular tools in different settings.

Analysis of the missing data revealed significant patterns on items 9 and 13 (victim's biological child from previous partner and barriers to victim support respectively) for the DCS clinicians, and items 8 (more than one child between victim and offender) and 9 for the researcher. These three items rely heavily on information provided by the victim, and are therefore difficult to locate archivally. Access to victim information is not always possible, particularly in this study's context for ethical reasons. Further, the information required to score the ODARA is drawn from multiple sources within departmental case management and electronic record systems. This is consistent with literature where missing data were also most commonly found on items related to victim-offender relationship (Hilton et al., 2010).

Particularly in relation to item 13, the researcher had roughly 1% missing information on this item in comparison to just under 30% from the original clinicians. This may suggest that the understanding of how to score this item may have differed between the original and subsequent testing. The researcher used the manual as a strict guide as they had little prior experience in this field. However, it is possible that given the clinicians' many years of experience with the offending population, they were not guided as much by the scoring form and instead used the idea of barriers to victim support more broadly, resulting in greater ambiguity.

Good to excellent levels of interrater reliability were found for almost all items excluding item 7 (victim concern about future assault) and 11 (substance abuse). This is positive as it highlights that the researcher and clinicians were in agreement on items a majority of the time. However, poor levels of agreement on items 7 and 11 further emphasises that the necessary information is not always readily accessible in DCS systems. For example, the criterion for item 11 requires the assessor to search through numerous documents in order to correctly score the item. It is possible that this may have resulted in time-poor clinicians tending to endorse 'missing' more often, due to wanting to be cautious rather than underscore the ODARA.

The items within the ODARA seemed to correlate poorly with one another, with the internal consistency being unacceptably low. This was further confirmed by the item-total correlations that also showed poor internal consistency. Whilst poor internal consistency often suggests that the items do not relate to one another this may not necessarily be the case for this study. It is possible that the findings may be associated with information used to score the items being misinterpreted and therefore possibly misrepresented in this sample. For example, item 7 (victim's concern about future) had an extremely poor item-total correlation

(-.04). However, the scoring of this item, as mentioned previously, may have been misinterpreted and generalised, causing it not to be scored as according to the criteria.

The missing data and poor internal consistency bring into question the feasibility of using the ODARA within the South Australian correctional setting. Whilst the interrater reliability was good to excellent for the most part, item 7 and 11 further emphasise the need to assess feasibility.

# 4.2.2 Relationship between Severity and the ODARA

As indicated in chapter 1, the original ODARA validation study considered some forms of severity; however, these measures were broad and did consider specific forms of severe violence. Considering this, the second aim of this study was to assess whether the ODARA accounted for severe forms of IPV, particularly strangulation, weapon use and sexual assault. The prevalence of strangulation and weapon use in particular within this population was alarmingly high. Just over 1 in 4 assaults included strangulation, and almost 1 in 3 assaults included weapon use, relative to the approximately 1 in 10 of assaults including weapon use in the original validation sample (Hilton et al., 2004). Of note is that the ODARAs were completed based on the most recent offence, rather than being selectively chosen. This highlights just how pervasive these kinds of severe, violent behaviours are. The prevalence of these behaviours also further emphasises the need to assess for severity within the ODARA.

A test of interrater reliability indicated strong percentage agreement for strangulation, weapon use and sexual assault between the researcher's original ratings, and the supervisor's subsequent retests. This is positive as it suggests that the researcher and clinicians were scoring the same concept. As a result, the coding of the severity variables seemed to be conceptualised well.

Item 5 (threat to harm or kill) was significantly related to weapon use. Research has likened weapon use to lethality (Folkes et al., 2012). Previous research has also indicated threats to injure or kill as being associated with a higher likelihood of future homicide, or lethality (Koziol-Mclain et al., 2006). From this, it is possible that there is an association between threat to harm or kill and weapon use, due to their relationship with lethality.

Item 6 (confinement of victim) was positively related to both strangulation and sexual assault. This is an interesting finding that aligns with literature suggesting that confinement, sexual assault and strangulation are all related to the concepts of coercion and control (Lyndon, White & Kadlec, 2007; Stark, 2007; Vella, Miller, Lambert & Morgan, 2017). Therefore, it is possible that the relationship between item 6 and strangulation, and item 6 and sexual assault exists as they represent this idea of a controlling form of violence.

Item 10 (prior violence against non-domestic victim) was negatively correlated with sexual assault. This suggests that those who were previously violent towards non-domestic victims were less likely to sexually assault their female partner during the index offence. This may further support that sexual assault has a unique profile within IPV, that is more closely related to control (Lyndon, White & Kadlec, 2007) and therefore negatively relates to item 10, as it suggests a more general form of violence.

Item 13 (barriers to victim support) was negatively related to weapon use. As barriers to victim support includes the victim being in controlling circumstances, i.e. no access to mobile phone, no access to transportation, living in an area with no one close by, this may further support the idea that weapon use is a lethal, aggressive form of violence (Koziol-Mclain et al., 2006). Whereas item 13 (barriers to victim support) is more closely related to the idea of control and coercion in violence, given its similar nature to confinement.

Nevertheless, overall, it seems that the majority of ODARA items did not have a significant relationship with any of the severity variables. The items that did correlate were

also quite small, and therefore should be viewed with caution. Correlations between the severity variables themselves also confirmed that these variables may reflect unique subtypes of IPV. Sexual assault and strangulation had a significant relationship, albeit small. Weapon use did not significantly correlate with any of the severity variables. This only further reiterates the possibility that weapon use is associated with lethality and aggression (Koziol-Mclain et al., 2006; Sorenson & Wiebe, 2004) in comparison with sexual assault and strangulation which have been profiled as controlling and coercive (Lyndon, White & Kadlec, 2007; Vella, Miller, Lambert & Morgan, 2017).

Previous literature shows that the ODARA certainly predicts likelihood of reoffending (Hilton et al., 2004; Lauria et al., 2017; Rettenberger & Eher, 2013). However, if severity is considered to be an important part of risk as we are suggesting, the items in this tool seem to not account for it. Logistic regression analyses confirmed this, as the results revealed that there was no significant improvement in any of the models when including the combined effects of the ODARA items and the severity variables. The insignificant model predicting strangulation may suggest that strangulation is a specific type of IPV that is not related to, or able to be explained by any of the predictors, including the other severity variables.

Whilst there was no significant improvement in the overall model when predicting weapon use, the model was close to significance (p<.09) and therefore the significant predictors are discussed. Weapon use was associated with reduced probabilities for item 3 (prior custodial sentence), item 5 (threat to harm or kill) and sexual assault. On the contrary, Phi correlations revealed that each of these predictors had positive relationships with weapon use. This is an interesting contradiction and may be a result of many factors. When controlling for the other predictors in the logistic regression, the direction of relationship with weapon use changed. This could be due to the other predictors explaining a large amount of

the variance in the relationship that was controlled for within the logistic regression.

However, all associations were weak so interpretation of the significance of these findings should be done with caution.

A logistic regression predicting sexual assault was uninterpretable due to the significantly low sample size. It is possible that there was such a low number of cases of reported sexual assault simply because it did not occur often. However, more troubling is the possibility that the low occurrence of sexual assault within this population was due to it being underreported. Previous research tends to suggest that sexual assault is often underreported due to its sensitive and intimate nature (Bagwell-Gray et al., 2015; Lehner, 2017; Wolitzky-Taylor et al., 2011).

# 4.3 Limitations and Implications on Policy

This study provides an important contribution to the existing literature on the ODARA, particularly on its feasibility and inclusion of severity. It appears to be one of the first to analyse its use in an Australian correctional setting, as well as the inclusion of severity variables within the tool. This study also added to the existing literature on strangulation, weapon use and sexual assault, particularly as it relates to the Australian context. The present study endeavoured to overcome reliability limitations by retesting a subsample of the ODARA items as well as the key severity variables, in order to increase the consistency of scoring the ODARA. Due to the archival nature of the data, a favourable sample size was created, however there were limiting factors about this sample. The sample was limited by a lack of ethnic/cultural identification, as offenders identified as either ATSI, or non-ATSI. There was also an overrepresentation of offenders who had at least one previous IPV-related offence, which may have influenced the results of this study.

One key limitation of this study, which has also been highlighted by previous research, is the limited access to information (Hilton, Harris, Rice, Houghton & Eke, 2008).

As this study relied heavily on archival data, there was a degree of difficulty with locating particular information in order to correctly score the ODARA items. The archives of correctional services did not enable optimal assessment when using the ODARA as the information needed to score the various items is often found in many different places. This makes it difficult for clinicians and researchers alike to score on the sole basis of the archival data, as it is unclear whether information such as victim's biological child from previous partner (item 9) is not present, or whether it simply has not been recorded. We acknowledge that as the ODARA was originally created for frontline police officers, the police would have the ability to simply speak with the offender and/or the victim. However, the difficulties accessing key information has practical implications for correctional and justice professionals, as well as survivors and offenders. The ODARA score is used by DCS SA to determine whether offenders are referred to the DFVIP. Accordingly, a lack of information at assessment may result in incorrect scoring and subsequent placement or lack thereof, of the offender into an intervention program.

In this study, the focus shifted from the importance of assessing likelihood of reoffending, to the importance of assessing the severity of offending. Doing so provided an insight into severe forms of violence as key indicators of risk, and has also highlighted potential barriers of the tool. The results seem to suggest that there may be different profiles of IPV that the ODARA is not capturing. The literature on subtypes of IPV exists, however there has been minimal attention on how they relate to the ODARA specifically (Hilton et al., 2008). Further, previous research suggests that the ODARA may be assessing a more general form of IPV violence rather than any specific types or subtypes (Olver and Jung, 2017). Particularly in terms of the severity variables, there seemed to be no significant results that would suggest severity is accounted for within the ODARA. This is particularly concerning given the high prevalence of weapon use and strangulation within this cohort, both of which

have such high risk of lethality. Further, the results also suggest that there is no significant relationship between the severity variables themselves. This could also suggest that the severity variables are unique subtypes of IPV within themselves, and therefore do not relate well to one another. It is important that mental health, correctional and justice professionals recognise these differences in subtypes of IPV offenders. A greater understanding of the characteristics of IPV could consequently lead to more in-depth and thorough risk assessment tools that not only assess likelihood of reoffending, but also include the type of reoffending as an important element of risk.

## 4.4 Direction for Future Research

## **Practice**

This study has illustrated some key difficulties faced by professionals when accessing offender-related information. A more systematic approach in the sorting and storing of offender information may improve access to information. This could include ensuring that all reports relating to offenders are stored in one specific location for the entire department, as well as ensuring that all physical documents are transferred into electronic files. In order to further improve the access to offender-related information, the ODARA could also be scored closer to index offence or subsequent time of incarceration in order to have greater access to further information if needed (Hilton et al., 2010). It is suggested that a tightening of application of the criteria may also increase validity when scoring offenders on the ODARA. This may be done by requiring the administration of the tool to be completed strictly alongside the criteria for clinician's constant and mandatory reference.

### Research

Future research should explore increasing the feasibility of the ODARA in this particular setting. This could be done by validating the use of the tool in the South Australian correctional setting and assessing how well the tool is able to predict recidivism on a 5-year

trajectory (Hilton et al., 2010). However, this may not address the ODARA's lack of attention to the severity of violence. Therefore, future research could also look more thoroughly into subtypes of IPV to gain a better understanding of these profiles and how they can be assessed. Further research could explore the utility of including or adding items to the ODARA that significantly capture severe forms of violence. This may also reveal an opportunity for a new IPV risk assessment tool to be created.

## 4.5 Conclusion

This study has contributed valuable research to the risk assessment literature, by highlighting further questions about the feasibility of the ODARA, as well as its lack of ability to account for severe forms of violence. The results of this study seem to suggest further research is needed in order to consider the ODARA a valid risk assessment tool within the South Australian correctional setting. Further, this study has demonstrated that whilst severity of offence is a key component of risk, this information is not assessed or captured in the ODARA. The results of this study could inform public policy and practice changes, which may in turn support the aim to reduce reoffending, particularly offending that is IPV-related.

### References

- Abramsky, T., Watts, C., Garcia-Moreno, C., Devries, K., Kiss, L., Ellsberg, M., . . . Heise, L. (2011). What factors are associated with recent intimate partner violence? findings from the WHO multi-country study on women's health and domestic violence. *BMC Public Health*, 11(1), 109. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-11-109
- Anderson, K. L. (2005). Theorizing gender in intimate partner violence research. *Sex Roles:*A Journal of Research, 52(11-12), 853. doi:10.1007/s11199-005-4204-x
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2016). Personal Safety Survey. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Lookup/by%20Subject/4906.0~2016~Main%20Features~About%20the%20Personal%20Safety%20Survey%20~2">https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Lookup/by%20Subject/4906.0~2016~Main%20Features~About%20the%20Personal%20Safety%20Survey%20~2</a>
- Bagwell-Gray, M. E., Messing, J. T., & Baldwin-White, A. (2015). Intimate Partner Sexual Violence: A Review of Terms, Definitions, and Prevalence. In (Vol. 16, pp. 316-335). Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Baker, R. B., & Sommers, M. S. (2008). Physical Injury From Intimate Partner Violence:

  Measurement Strategies and Challenges. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic & Neonatal Nursing*, 37(2), 228-233. doi:10.1111/j.1552-6909.2007.00226.x
- Bonta, J., & Andrews, D. (2007). Risk-Need-Responsivity Model for Offender Assessment and Rehabilitation
- Breakwell, G. (2014). The Psychology of Risk. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Bryant, W., & Bricknell, S. (2017). Homicide in Australia 2012–13 to 2013–14: National Homicide Monitoring Program report. *Australian Institute of Criminology* 2.

  Retrieved from <a href="https://aic.gov.au/publications/sr/sr002">https://aic.gov.au/publications/sr/sr002</a>
- Campbell, J. C. (2002). Health consequences of intimate partner violence. *The Lancet,* 359(9314), 1331-1336. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08336-8

- Campbell, J. C. (2007). Assessing Dangerousness: Violence by Batterers and Child Abusers, Second Edition.
- Campbell, R., Dworkin, E., & Cabral, G. (2009). An Ecological Model of the Impact of Sexual Assault On Women's Mental Health. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 10*(3), 225-246. doi:10.1177/1524838009334456
- Capaldi, D., Knoble, N., Shortt, J., & Kim, H. (2012). A Systematic Review of Risk Factors for Intimate Partner Violence. *Partner Abuse*, *3*(2), 231-280. doi:10.1891/1946-6560.3.2.231
- Castro, R., Cerellino, L., & Rivera, R. (2017). Risk Factors of Violence against Women in Peru. *Journal of Family Violence*, 32(8), 807-815. doi:10.1007/s10896-017-9929-0
- Cleak, H., Schofield, M. J., Axelsen, L., & Bickerdike, A. (2018). Screening for Partner Violence Among Family Mediation Clients: Differentiating Types of Abuse. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *33*(7), 1118-1146. doi:10.1177/0886260515614559
- Connors, A. D., Mills, J. F., & Gray, A. L. (2013). Intimate Partner Violence Intervention for High-Risk Offenders. *Psychological Services*, *10*(1), 12-23. doi:10.1037/a0028979
- Cortis, N., & Bullen, J. (2016). Domestic violence and women's economic security: Building Australia's capacity for prevention and redress: Key findings and future directions.

  Australia's National Research Organisation for Women's Safety(6).
- Day, A., Richardson, T., Bowen, E., & Bernardi, J. (2014). Intimate partner violence in prisoners: Toward effective assessment and intervention. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 19(5), 579-583. doi:10.1016/j.avb.2014.08.002
- Department for Correctional Services. (2018). Strategic Plan 2018-2022. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.corrections.sa.gov.au/reports-and-publications/strategic-plan">https://www.corrections.sa.gov.au/reports-and-publications/strategic-plan</a>

- Desmarais, S., Reeves, K., Nicholls, T., Telford, R., & Fiebert, M. (2012). Prevalence of Physical Violence in Intimate Relationships, Part 2: Rates of Male and Female Perpetration. *Partner Abuse*, *3*(2), 170-198. doi:10.1891/1946-6560.3.2.170
- Dobash, R. P., & Dobash, R. E. (2004). Womens Violence to Men in Intimate Relationships.

  The British Journal of Criminology, 44(3), 324-349. doi:10.1093/crimin/324
- Echeburúa, E., Fernández-Montalvo, J., de Corral, P., & López-Goñi, J. J. (2009). Assessing Risk Markers in Intimate Partner Femicide and Severe Violence: A New Assessment Instrument. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 24(6), 925-939. doi:10.1177/0886260508319370
- Field, A. P. (2009). *Discovering statistics using SPSS : (and sex and drugs and rock 'n' roll)*(3rd ed. ed.). Los Angeles: SAGE.
- Folkes, S. E. F., Hilton, N. Z., & Harris, G. T. (2012). Weapon Use Increases the Severity of Domestic Violence but Neither Weapon Use nor Firearm Access Increases the Risk or Severity of Recidivism. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 28(6), 1143-1156. doi:10.1177/0886260512468232
- García-Moreno, C., Pallitto, C., Devries, K., Stöckl, H., Watts, C., & Abrahams, N. (2013).

  Global and regional estimates of violence against women: prevalence and health

  effects of intimate partner violence and non-partner sexual violence. Geneva: World

  Health Organization.
- Gerth, J., Rossegger, A., Bauch, E., & Endrass, J. (2017). Assessing the Discrimination and Calibration of the Ontario Domestic Assault Risk Assessment in Switzerland. *Partner Abuse*, 8(2). doi:10.1891/1946-6560.8.2.168
- Gerth, J., Rossegger, A., Urbaniok, F., & Endrass, J. (2014). Das Ontario Domestic Assault Risk Assessment (ODARA)—Validität und autorisierte deutsche Übersetzung eines Screening-Instruments für Risikobeurteilungen bei Intimpartnergewalt [The Ontario

- Domestic Assault Risk Assessment (ODARA)—Validity und Authorised German Translation of an Intimate Partner Violence Screening Tool]. *Fortschritte der Neurologie, Psychiatrie,* 82(11). doi:10.1055/s-0034-1384915
- Gibbs, A., Dunkle, K., Ramsoomar, L., Willan, S., Jama Shai, N., Chatterji, S., . . . Jewkes, R. (2020). New learnings on drivers of men's physical and/or sexual violence against their female partners, and women's experiences of this, and the implications for prevention interventions. *Global Health Action*, *13*(1). doi:10.1080/16549716.2020.1739845
- Hall, J. E., Walters, M. L., & Basile, K. C. (2012). Intimate Partner Violence Perpetration by Court-Ordered Men: Distinctions Among Subtypes of Physical Violence, Sexual Violence, Psychological Abuse, and Stalking. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 27(7), 1374-1395. doi:10.1177/0886260511425249
- Helmus, L., & Bourgon, G. (2011). Taking Stock of 15 Years of Research on the Spousal

  Assault Risk Assessment Guide (SARA): A Critical Review. *International Journal of*Forensic Mental Health, 10(1), 64-75. doi:10.1080/14999013.2010.551709
- Hilton, N. Z., Harris, G. T., & Holder, N. (2008). Actuarial Assessment of Violence Risk in Hospital-Based Partner Assault Clinics. CJNR (Canadian Journal of Nursing Research), 40(4), 56-70.
- Hilton, N. Z., Harris, G. T., Popham, S., & Lang, C. (2010). Risk Assessment Among Incarcerated Male Domestic Violence Offenders. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 37(8), 815-832. doi:10.1177/0093854810368937
- Hilton, N. Z., Harris, G. T., & Rice, M. E. (2010). Risk assessment for domestically violent men: Tools for criminal justice, offender intervention, and victim services: American Psychological Association.

- Hilton, N. Z., Harris, G. T., Rice, M. E., Houghton, R. E., & Eke, A. W. (2008). An Indepth Actuarial Assessment for Wife Assault Recidivism: The Domestic Violence Risk Appraisal Guide. *Law and Human Behavior*, *32*(2), 150-163. doi:10.1007/s10979-007-9088-6
- Hilton, N. Z., Harris, G. T., Rice, M. E., Lang, C., Cormier, C. A., & Lines, K. J. (2004). A
  Brief Actuarial Assessment for the Prediction of Wife Assault Recidivism: The
  Ontario Domestic Assault Risk Assessment. *Psychological Assessment*, 16(3), 267-275. doi:10.1037/1040-3590.16.3.267
- Hilton, N. Z., Pham, A. T., Jung, S., Nunes, K., & Ennis, L. (2020). Risk scores and reliability of the SARA, SARA-V3, B-SAFER, and ODARA among Intimate Partner Violence (IPV) cases referred for threat assessment. *Police practice & research*, ahead-of-print(ahead-of-print), 1-16. doi:10.1080/15614263.2020.1798235
- Hulme, S., Morgan, A., & Boxall, H. (2019). Domestic violence offenders, prior offending and reoffending in Australia. *Trends & Issues in Crime and Criminal Justice*(580), 1.
- International Criminal Court. (2011). *Elements of Crime*. Retrieved from The Hague: <a href="https://www.icc-cpi.int/NR/rdonlyres/336923D8-A6AD-40EC-AD7B-45BF9DE73D56/0/ElementsOfCrimesEng.pdf">https://www.icc-cpi.int/NR/rdonlyres/336923D8-A6AD-40EC-AD7B-45BF9DE73D56/0/ElementsOfCrimesEng.pdf</a>
- Johnson, M. P. (2006). Conflict and Control: Gender Symmetry and Asymmetry in Domestic Violence. *Violence Against Women*, *12*(11), 1003-1018. doi:10.1177/1077801206293328
- Joshi, M., Thomas, K. A., & Sorenson, S. B. (2012). "I Didn't Know I Could Turn Colors": Health Problems and Health Care Experiences of Women Strangled by an Intimate Partner. *Social Work in Health Care*, *51*(9), 798-814. doi:10.1080/00981389.2012.692352

- Jung, S., Faitakis, M., & Cheema, H. (2020). A comparative profile of intimate partner sexual violence. *Journal of Sexual Aggression*, 1-11. doi:10.1080/13552600.2020.1722268
- Kebbell, M. R. (2019). Risk assessment for intimate partner violence: how can the police assess risk? In (Vol. 25, pp. 829-846): Routledge.
- Klein, A. R., & Crowe, A. (2008). Findings From an Outcome Examination of Rhode Island's
   Specialized Domestic Violence Probation Supervision Program: Do Specialized
   Supervision Programs of Batterers Reduce Reabuse? *Violence Against Women*, 14(2),
   226-246. doi:10.1177/1077801207312633
- Klein, A. R., & Tobin, T. (2008). A Longitudinal Study of Arrested Batterers, 1995-2005:

  Career Criminals. *Violence Against Women, 14*(2), 136-157.

  doi:10.1177/1077801207312396
- Koziol-Mclain, J., Webster, D., McFarlane, J., Block, C. R., Ulrich, Y., Glass, N., &
  Campbell, J. C. (2006). Risk factors for femicide-suicide in abusive relationships:
  results from a multisite case control study. *Violence and Victims*, 21(1), 3.
  doi:10.1891/088667006780927358
- Kropp, P. R. (2008). Intimate partner violence risk assessment and management.(Author abstract)(Report). *Violence and Victims*, 23(2), 202. doi:10.1891/0886-6708.23.2.202
- Kropp, P. R., & Hart, S. D. (2000). The Spousal Assault Risk Assessment (SARA) Guide: Reliability and Validity in Adult Male Offenders. *Law and Human Behavior*, 24(1), 101-118. doi:10.1023/A:1005430904495
- Krug, E. G., Dahlberg, L. L., Mercy, J. A., Zwi, A. B., & Lozano, R. (2002). World report on violence and health. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Lauria, I., McEwan, T. E., Luebbers, S., Simmons, M., & Ogloff, J. R. P. (2017). Evaluating the Ontario Domestic Assault Risk Assessment in an Australian Frontline Police

- Setting. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *44*(12), 1545-1558. doi:10.1177/0093854817738280
- Lehner, E. A. (2017). Rape process templates: a hidden cause of the underreporting of rape. *Yale Journal of Law and Feminism*, 29(1), 207-240.
- Loinaz, I. (2014). Typologies, risk and recidivism in partner-violent men with the B-SAFER: a pilot study. *Psychology, Crime & Law, 20*(2), 183-198. doi:10.1080/1068316X.2013.770854
- Lutwak, N. (2018). The Psychology of Health and Illness: The Mental Health and Physiological Effects of Intimate Partner Violence on Women. *The Journal of Psychology*, *152*(6), 373-387. doi:10.1080/00223980.2018.1447435
- Lyndon, A. E., White, J. W., & Kadlec, K. M. (2007). Manipulation and force as sexual coercion tactics: conceptual and empirical differences. *Aggressive Behavior*, *33*(4), 291-303. doi:10.1002/ab.20200
- McFarlane, J., Malecha, A., Watson, K., Gist, J., Batten, E., Hall, I., & Smith, S. (2005).

  Intimate partner sexual assault against women: frequency, health consequences, and treatment outcomes. *Obstetrics and gynecology*, 105(1), 99.

  doi:10.1097/01.AOG.0000146641.98665.b6
- Mercer, G., & Ziersch, E. (2017). *Review of Criminogenic Assessment Tools*. Retrieved from Adelaide:
- Merriam-Webster. (2020). Sexual Assault. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/sexual%20assault">https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/sexual%20assault</a>
- Messing, J. T., Patch, M., Wilson, J. S., Kelen, G. D., & Campbell, J. (2018). Differentiating among Attempted, Completed, and Multiple Nonfatal Strangulation in Women Experiencing Intimate Partner Violence. *Women's Health Issues*, 28(1), 104-111. doi:10.1016/j.whi.2017.10.002

- Messing, J. T., & Thaller, J. (2013). The Average Predictive Validity of Intimate Partner Violence Risk Assessment Instruments. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 28(7), 1537-1558. doi:10.1177/0886260512468250
- Messing, J. T., & Thaller, J. (2015). Intimate Partner Violence Risk Assessment: A Primer for Social Workers. *The British Journal of Social Work, 45*(6), 1804-1820. doi:10.1093/bjsw/bcu012
- Messing, J. T., Thomas, K. A., Ward-Lasher, A. L., & Brewer, N. Q. (2018). A Comparison of Intimate Partner Violence Strangulation Between Same-Sex and Different-Sex Couples. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 886260518757223. doi:10.1177/0886260518757223
- Millsteed, M., & Coghlan, S. (2016). Predictors of recidivism amongst police recorded family violence perpetrators. Retrieved from Victoria:

  <a href="https://author.crimestatistics.vic.gov.au/sites/default/files/embridge\_cache/emshare/original/public/2020/04/20/c9cd74904/20160530\_final\_in\_brief4.pdf">https://author.crimestatistics.vic.gov.au/sites/default/files/embridge\_cache/emshare/original/public/2020/04/20/c9cd74904/20160530\_final\_in\_brief4.pdf</a>
- Morgan, A., Boxall, H., & Brown, R. (2018). Targeting repeat domestic violence: Assessing short-term risk of reoffending. *Trends and Issues in Crime and Criminal Justice*(552), 1-16.
- National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health (UK). (2015). Violence and Aggression:

  Short-term management in mental health, health and community settings. *The British Psychological Society*. Retrieved from

  <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK305020/pdf/Bookshelf">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK305020/pdf/Bookshelf</a> NBK305020.pdf
- Nicholls, T., Pritchard, M., Reeves, K., & Hilterman, E. (2013). Risk Assessment in Intimate

  Partner Violence: A Systematic Review of Contemporary Approaches. *Partner Abuse*, 4(1), 76-168. doi:10.1891/1946-6560.4.1.76

- Orsmond, G. I., & Cohn, E. S. (2015). The Distinctive Features of a Feasibility Study:

  Objectives and Guiding Questions. *OTJR: Occupation, Participation and Health,*35(3), 169-177. doi:10.1177/1539449215578649
- Oxford Dictionary of English. (2011). Oxford Dictionary of English (3 ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Petersson, J., & Strand, S. (2017). Recidivism in Intimate Partner Violence Among

  Antisocial and Family-Only Perpetrators. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 44(11),

  1477-1495. doi:10.1177/0093854817719916
- Pritchard, A. J., Reckdenwald, A., & Nordham, C. (2017). Nonfatal Strangulation as Part of Domestic Violence: A Review of Research. *Trauma Violence Abuse*, 18(4), 407-424. doi:10.1177/1524838015622439
- Rettenberger, M., & Eher, R. (2013). Actuarial Risk Assessment in Sexually Motivated Intimate-Partner Violence. *Law and Human Behavior*, *37*(2), 75-86. doi:10.1037/b0000001
- Rice, M., & Harris, G. (2005). Comparing Effect Sizes in Follow-Up Studies: ROC Area, Cohen's d, and r. *Law and Human Behavior*, 29(5), 615-620. doi:10.1007/s10979-005-6832-7
- Rose, E. (2015). A feminist reconceptualisation of intimate partner violence against women:

  A crime against humanity and a state crime. *Women's Studies International Forum*,

  53, 31-42. doi:10.1016/j.wsif.2015.08.004
- Sachs-Ericsson, N., Kendall-Tackett, K. A., Sheffler, J., Arce, D., Rushing, N. C., & Corsentino, E. (2014). The influence of prior rape on the psychological and physical health functioning of older adults. *Aging & Mental Health*, *18*(6), 717-730. doi:10.1080/13607863.2014.884538

- Smith, R. G., Jorna, P., Sweeney, J., & Fuller, G. (2014). Counting the costs of crime in Australia: A 2011 estimate. xvii, 83 p.
- Sorenson, S., & Wiebe, D. (2004). Weapons in the Lives of Battered Women. *American Journal of Public Health*, 94(8), 1412-1417. doi:10.2105/AJPH.94.8.1412
- Spencer, C. M., & Stith, S. M. (2020). Risk Factors for Male Perpetration and Female Victimization of Intimate Partner Homicide: A Meta-Analysis. In (Vol. 21, pp. 527-540). Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Stark, E. (2007). *Coercive control: the entrapment of women in personal life*. New York, New York: Oxford University Press.
- Stockman, J., Hayashi, H., & Campbell, J. (2015). Intimate Partner Violence and Its Health

  Impact on Disproportionately Affected Populations, Including Minorities and

  Impoverished Groups. *Journal of Women's Health*, 24(1). doi:10.1089/jwh.2014.4879
- Svalin, K., & Levander, S. (2019). The Predictive Validity of Intimate Partner Violence Risk Assessments Conducted by Practitioners in Different Settings: a Review of the Literature. *Journal Of Police And Criminal Psychology*; 35(2). doi:10.1007/s11896-019-09343-4
- Thomas, K. A., Joshi, M., & Sorenson, S. B. (2014). "Do You Know What It Feels Like to Drown?": Strangulation as Coercive Control in Intimate Relationships. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 38(1), 124-137. doi:10.1177/0361684313488354
- Tjaden, P., & Thoennes, N. (2000). Full Report of the Prevalence, Incidence, and

  Consequences of Violence against Women: Findings from the National Violence

  against Women Survey. Washington: National Institute of Justice.
- Ubillos-Landa, S., Puente-Martínez, A., González-Castro, J. L., & Nieto-González, S. (2020).

  You belong to me! Meta-analytic review of the use of male control and dominance

- against women in intimate partner violence. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 52. doi:10.1016/j.avb.2020.101392
- Vella, S. A., Miller, M. M., Lambert, J. E., & Morgan, M. L. (2017). "I Felt Close to Death": A Phenomenological Study of Female Strangulation Survivors of Intimate Terrorism. *Journal of Feminist Family Therapy*, 29(4), 171-188. doi:10.1080/08952833.2017.1370572
- Weisz, A. N., Tolman, R. M., & Saunders, D. G. (2000). Assessing the Risk of Severe Domestic Violence: The Importance of Survivors' Predictions. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *15*(1), 75-90. doi:10.1177/088626000015001006
- Whitaker, M. (2013). Centrality of Control-Seeking in Men's Intimate Partner Violence Perpetration. *Prevention Science*, 14(5), 513-523. doi:10.1007/s11121-012-0332-z
- Wilbur, L., Higley, M., Hatfield, J., Surprenant, Z., Taliaferro, E., Smith, D. J., & Paolo, A. (2001). Survey results of women who have been strangled while in an abusive relationship. *Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 21(3), 297-302. doi:10.1016/S0736-4679(01)00398-5
- Williams, K., & Houghton, A. (2004). Assessing the Risk of Domestic Violence

  Reoffending: A Validation Study. *Law and Human Behavior*, 28(4), 437-455.

  doi:10.1023/B:LAHU.0000039334.59297.f0
- Wolitzky-Taylor, K. B., Resnick, H. S., McCauley, J. L., Amstadter, A. B., Kilpatrick, D. G.,
  & Ruggiero, K. J. (2011). Is Reporting of Rape on the Rise? A Comparison of
  Women With Reported Versus Unreported Rape Experiences in the National
  Women's Study-Replication. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 26(4), 807-832.
  doi:10.1177/0886260510365869

- Wong, J., & Mellor, D. (2014). Intimate partner violence and women's health and wellbeing: Impacts, risk factors and responses. *Contemporary Nurse*, 46(2), 170-179. doi:10.5172/conu.2014.46.2.170
- Wong, J. S., & Bouchard, J. (2020). Reducing intimate partner violence: a pilot evaluation of an intervention program. *Journal of offender rehabilitation*, 59(6), 354-374. doi:10.1080/10509674.2020.1767259
- Zilkens, R. R., Phillips, M. A., Kelly, M. C., Mukhtar, S. A., Semmens, J. B., & Smith, D. A. (2016). Non-fatal strangulation in sexual assault: A study of clinical and assault characteristics highlighting the role of intimate partner violence. *Journal of forensic and legal medicine*, 43, 1-7. doi:10.1016/j.jflm.2016.06.005

## Appendix A

